
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPERANNUATION FUND COMMITTEE 
 

Friday, 7th February, 2014 
 

10.30 am 
 

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THERE WILL BE A TRAINING SESSION AT 9.30am in the 
DARENT ROOM for MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE  

 
 

  
 

 





 

  
AGENDA 

 
SUPERANNUATION FUND COMMITTEE 

 
 

Friday, 7th February, 2014 at 10.30 am Ask for: Denise Fitch 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone: 01622 694269 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
 

A.  COMMITTEE BUSINESS 
A1 Substitutes  
A2 Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this meeting.  
A3 Minutes - 15 November 2013 (Pages 5 - 10) 
B. MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT ITEMS 
That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

(During these items the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the press and public) 
 

 
 
B1 Exempt Minutes - 15 November 2013 (Pages 11 - 14) 
C.  MATTERS FOR REPORT/DECISION BY THE COMMITTEE 
C1 UK Equity Managers (Pages 15 - 20) 
C2 Fund Structure (Pages 21 - 36) 
C3 Harbourvest  

 
 



UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
D.   MATTERS FOR REPORT/DECISION BY THE COMMITTEE 
D1 Application for Admission to the Fund (Pages 37 - 42) 
D2 Grant Thornton - Coming of Age: Development of the Local Government 

Pension Scheme (Pages 43 - 68) 
D3  Date of next meeting  
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Friday 21 March 2014 at 

10.00am  
 

 
 
 
Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
(01622) 694002 
 
Thursday, 30 January 2014 
 
 
 



 

 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
SUPERANNUATION FUND COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Superannuation Fund Committee held in the Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 15 November 2013. 
 
PRESENT:  Mr J E Scholes (Chairman), Mr D S Daley (Vice-Chairman), Cllr J Burden, 
Cllr P Clokie, Mr J A  Davies, Ms J De Rochefort, Cllr N Eden-Green, Mr B E MacDowall, 
Mr R J Parry, Mr S Richards, Mr C Simkins, Cllr L Wicks and Mrs Z Wiltshire. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Miss S J Carey and Mr J D Simmonds, MBE 
 
IN ATTENDANCE:  Mr A Wood (Corporate Director of Finance and Procurement), 
Mr N Vickers (Head of Financial Services), Ms S Surana (Senior Accountant - 
Investments), Mr S Tagg (Senior Accountant Pension Fund), Mr P R Luscombe (Pensions 
Manager) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer). 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
27. Minutes - 30 August 2013 and 10 September 2013  

(Item A3) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 30 August and 10 September are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  
 
28. Motion to Exclude the Press and Public for Exempt Items  
 
The Committee resolved that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS (OPEN ACCESS TO MINUTES) 
 
29. Exempt Minute - 10 September 2013  

(Item B1) 
 
RESOLVED that the exempt minute of the meeting held on 10 September is correctly 
recorded and it be signed by the Chairman.  
 
30. Baillie Gifford  

(Item C1) 
 
Mrs L Dewar and Mr I Tabberer from Baillie Gifford were in attendance for this item. 
 
1. The Chairman welcomed Mrs Dewar and Mr Tabberer to the meeting and invited 
them to give an update on progress over the last ten years and respond to questions of 
detail from the Committee. Also circulated at the meeting were details of the performance 
of the portfolio being managed by Baillie Gifford on behalf of the Superannuation Fund. 
 

Agenda Item A3

Page 5



 

 

2. RESOLVED that the information given in the update and in response to the 
Committee’s questions be noted, and that Baillie Gifford be thanked for attending 
and for their work in managing the portfolio.  

 
31. Fund Structure  

(Item C2) 
 
Mr A McKissick and Mr A Elliott from Hymans Robertson were in attendance for this item. 
 
1. The Chairman welcomed Mr McKissick and Mr Elliott to the meeting.  Mr Vickers 
introduced the report and, with Mr McKissick and Mr Elliott, responded to questions of 
detail from the Committee. 
 
2. The Committee then debated at length the issues on which it had been asked to 
make a decision, and arrived at a conclusion on each of the five investment or 
appointment questions in the report. Mr McKissick and Mr Elliott were thanked for 
attending and assisting the Committee in its deliberations. 
 
3. RESOLVED that:- 
 
 a) the information given in the update be noted; and 
 

b) decisions on the investments and the appointment recommended in the 
report be confirmed, as directed by the Committee, following debate. 

 
32. Pensions Administration System Framework  

(Item C3) 
 
1. Mr Vickers introduced the report and circulated a letter received from the current 
provider of the pensions administration system.   
 
2. The Committee then debated the issues on which it had been asked to make 
decisions.   
 
3. RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the Corporate Director of Finance and Procurement  be authorised to sign 
the framework agreement, subject to legal and procurement advice; and 

 
b) the decision on the procurement of a pensions administration system be 

delegated to the Corporate Director of Finance and Procurement, in 
consultation with the Superannuation Fund Committee. 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS (COMMITTEE IN OPEN SESSION) 

 
33. Actuarial  Valuation  

(Item D1) 
 
1. Mr Vickers introduced the report and responded to questions of detail from 
Members, who commended the Fund’s good performance.  The Chairman added that the 
County Council had risen in the league tables, largely as a result of the work of this 
Committee. 
 

Page 6



 

 

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted. 
 
34. Fund Structure  

(Item D2) 
 
RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the UK Property position be noted; 
 
b) any sale decisions proposed by DTZ on the Indirect portfolio 

be delegated to the Corporate Director of Finance and Procurement, in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Superannuation Fund Committee;  

 
c) the revised Aurora Fund documentation be signed; 
 
d) the position on M&G be noted; and 
 
e) the Committee’s thanks be conveyed to the staff involved in the negotiation 

of the above.  
 
35. Fund Position Statement  

(Item D3) 
 
RESOLVED that:- 
 
 a) the Fund position statement be noted; and 
 

b) the Equity overweight position be reduced in the future, but no action be 
taken on this at the present time.  

 
36. Application for Admission to the Fund  

(Item D4) 
 
1. Mr Tagg and Mr Vickers introduced the report and responded to comments and 
questions of detail from the Committee.  Members expressed concern about the 
arrangements for the delegation of approval for all new applications to join the Fund, set 
out in recommendation 5 of the report, and asked that a number of changes be made to 
strengthen the County Council’s position, as follows:- 
 

a) to ensure that no decision on any contentious matters is taken under the 
officer delegation, but that all such matters be instead referred to the 
Committee for discussion and determination. There would need to be some 
means of identifying what would be covered by this category. Members also 
asked if it would be possible for the delegation to specify a financial value 
above which any applications would be referred to the Committee rather 
than determined under the delegation; and 

 
b) all decisions taken under the delegation be reported to the Committee at a 

later date for information.  
 

2. RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) Project Salus be admitted to the Kent County Council Pension Fund;  
Page 7



 

 

 
b) a Deed of Modification be entered into in respect of Capita Managed IT 

Solutions Ltd;  
  

c) an amended legal agreement be entered into with West Kent Housing 
Association;  

 
d) the arrangements agreed by the County Council in respect of any liabilities 

arising on the termination of Remade South East’s membership of the Fund 
be noted; 

 
e) the arrangements for the delegation of approval for all new, routine 

applications for admission to the Fund to the Corporate Director of Finance 
and Procurement be approved, subject to the staff being transferred from a 
best value authority, appropriate financial guarantees or bonds being 
provided, scrutiny by finance and legal officers being undertaken, email 
notification to all Members of the Superannuation Fund Committee of all 
non-routine applications, and unanimous agreement from Members. All 
decisions taken be reported to the next available Committee meeting and 
these arrangements be subject to regular, at least annual, reviews. Any 
application which is considered non-routine be referred to the 
Superannuation Fund Committee for determination;  

 
f) the proposals for the recovery of the Pension Fund costs be agreed;  

 
g) once legal agreements have been prepared for the matters in resolutions a), 

b) and c) above, the Kent County Council seal be affixed to the legal 
documents; and 

 
h) a report be made to a future meeting of the Committee on applicant 

organisations which are neither bonded or guaranteed by a local employer. 
 
37. Pensions Administration  

(Item D5) 
 
1. Mr Vickers and Mr Luscombe introduced the report and explained that a 
clarification of the changes to the administration of the Kent Pension Scheme would be 
issued in the week beginning 18 November 2013. The Chairman thanked Mr Luscombe 
for his extensive work on bringing in the changes to the scheme. 
 
2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted. 
 
38. Collaboration Work on Investment Manager Procurement  

(Item D6) 
 
RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the Fund support the collaboration initiative by the Society of County 
Treasurers;  

 
b) the Fund agree to maintain ‘headline’ details of the mandates and contracts 

it has, on a shared database, to facilitate this collaboration.  Only 
participating authorities will have access to the database, which, in the short 

Page 8



 

 

term, will be held by West Sussex, and, in the long term, by a neutral third 
party;  

 
c) there be a presumption that the Fund check the Society of County 

Treasurers database for any future procurements, when this is implemented, 
to see if an existing mandate or contract can be used in preference to 
individual Fund-by-Fund procurement; and 

 
d) any procurement the Fund undertakes have the standard form of words to 

permit other authorities to be added to the mandate / contract, as set out in 
the appendix to the report.  

 
39. Dates of meetings in 2014  

(Item D7) 
 
RESOLVED that the dates reserved for the Committee’s meetings in 2014 be noted, as 
follows:- 
 
Friday 7 February 2014 
Friday 21 March 2014 
Friday 27 June 2014 
Friday 29 August 2014 
Friday 14 November 2014 
 
All meetings will commence at 10.00 am in the Darent Room, Sessions House. 
 
 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item B1

Page 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item C1

Page 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item C2

Page 21

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



  
By: 
 

Chairman Superannuation Fund Committee 
Corporate Director Finance and Procurement  
 

To: 
 

Superannuation Fund Committee –  7 February 2014 
Subject: 
 

APPLICATION FOR ADMISSION TO THE FUND 
Classification: 
 

Unrestricted 
 

 
Summary: 
 

 
To report on applications to join the Kent Pension Fund and 
other admission matters. 

FOR DECISION 
 

 

 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
1. This report sets out information on applications from organisations to 

become admitted bodies within the Pension Fund. It also advises of the 
need to extend admission agreements, a termination, a name change 
and the closure of an admission agreement to new members. The 
Committee’s approval is sought to enter into these agreements. 

 
TOTAL FACILITIES MANAGEMENT (East Kent) 
 
2. KCC is awarding a 5 year contract for total facilities management in East 

Kent effective from May 2014.  
 
3. This involves the transfer of approximately 21 employees from KCC to 

the successful bidder. 
 
4. To ensure the continuity of pension arrangements for these employees, 

multiple bidders have made an application for admission to join the 
Pension Fund.   

 
5. The admission applications have been made under Regulation 6 (2) (a) 

(i) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) 
Regulations 2008, as amended, and under this regulation the admitted 
body is required to provide a form of bond or indemnity. The Fund 
Actuary has assessed the level of bond at £141,000 for the first year and 
set an employer’s contribution rate of 22%. 

 
6. The completed questionnaire and supporting documents provided by the 

bidders have been examined by Officers to ensure compliance with the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, and Legal Services 
have given a favourable opinion on each application.  

 
 

Agenda Item D1

Page 37



TOTAL FACILITIES MANAGEMENT (Mid Kent) 
 
7. KCC is awarding a 5 year contract for total facilities management in Mid 

Kent effective from May 2014.  
 
8. This involves the transfer of approximately 52 employees from KCC to 

the successful bidder. 
 
9. To ensure the continuity of pension arrangements for these employees, 

multiple bidders have made an application for admission to join the 
Pension Fund. One bidder is proposing sub-contracts whereby sub-
contractors carry out part of the outsourced public service or function of 
the Scheme Employer.  

 
10. There are therefore more admission applications to be considered than 

bids received.  
 
11. The admission applications have been made under Regulation 6 (2) (a) 

(i) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) 
Regulations 2008, as amended, and under this regulation the admitted 
body is required to provide a form of bond or indemnity. The Fund 
Actuary has assessed the level of bond at £454,000 for the first year and 
set an employer’s contribution rate of 20%. 

 
12. The completed questionnaires and supporting documents provided by 

the bidders have been examined by Officers to ensure compliance with 
the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, and Legal 
Services have given a favourable opinion on each application.  

 
TOTAL FACILITIES MANAGEMENT (West Kent) 
 
13. KCC is awarding a 5 year contract for total facilities management in 

West Kent effective from May 2014.  
 
14. This involves the transfer of approximately 31 employees from KCC to 

the successful bidder. 
 
15. To ensure the continuity of pension arrangements for these employees, 

multiple bidders have made an application for admission to join the 
Pension Fund.   

 
16. The admission applications have been made under Regulation 6 (2) (a) 

(i) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) 
Regulations 2008, as amended, and under this regulation the admitted 
body is required to provide a form of bond or indemnity. The Fund 
Actuary has assessed the level of bond at £83,000 for the first year and 
set an employer’s contribution rate of 19.4%. 

 
17. The completed questionnaires and supporting documents provided by 

the bidders have been examined by Officers to ensure compliance with 

Page 38



the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, and Legal 
Services have given a favourable opinion on each application.  

 
MEDWAY COMMUNITY HEALTHCARE CIC (RE DRIVERS/CATERING AT 
BALFOUR CENTRE) 
 
18. On 1 April 2013 Medway Community Healthcare CIC took over the 

running of care services at Balfour Day Centre from Medway Council.  
 
19. This involved the transfer of approximately 31 employees from Medway 

Council to Medway Community Healthcare CIC who entered into a 
closed admission agreement.  A further 8 staff are now being transferred 
from Medway Council to Medway Community Healthcare CIC. To ensure 
the continuity of pension arrangements for these additional employees, 
Medway Community Healthcare CIC have made a further application for 
admission to join the Pension Fund.   

 
20. The application has been made under Regulation 6 (2) (a) (i) of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008, 
as amended, and under this regulation the admitted body is required to 
provide a form of bond or indemnity. The Fund Actuary has assessed 
the level of bond at £50,000 for the first year and set an employer’s 
contribution rate of 22.7%. 

 
21. The completed questionnaire and supporting documents provided by 

Medway Community Healthcare CIC have been examined by Officers to 
ensure compliance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations, and Legal Services have given a favourable opinion on the 
application.  

 
SUPERCLEAN SERVICES WOTHORPE LIMITED 
 
22. Superclean Services Wothorpe Limited is a transferee admission body 

who joined the Pension Fund on the 1 April 2011 following the transfer of 
staff to them from Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council. 

 
23. The original contract has been extended to 31 March 2015 and it is 

necessary to extend the original admission agreement by a Deed of 
Modification. 

 
MYTIME ACTIVE 
 
24. Mytime Active is a transferee admitted body who joined the pension fund 

on 1 January 2011 following a transfer of staff to them from Maidstone 
Borough Council.  

 
25. The original contract has been extended by one year and it is necessary 

to extend the original admission agreement by a Deed of Modification. 
 
 

Page 39



QUADRON SERVICES LIMITED 
 
26. Quadron Services Limited is a transferee admission body who joined the 

pension fund on 29 June 2007 following the award of a contract by 
Medway Council. 

 
27. Medway Council are not renewing their contract with Quadron Services 

Limited which will therefore expire on 31 March 2014. 
 
28. The cessation report will be commissioned from the Actuary which will 

show what, if anything, is payable by Quadron Services Limited to the 
Pension Fund. 

 
HOPE (Kent) Limited 
 
29. HOPE (Kent) Limited is a Community Admission Body who joined the 

Pension scheme on 24 January 2005.They have recently changed their 
name to Pathways to Independence. 

 
30. As the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations have been 

amended since the original admission agreement was made, it is 
proposed that a new admission agreement be entered into which reflects 
both the name change and the changes to the Regulations. 

 
ASHFORD LEISURE TRUST 
 
31. Ashford Leisure Trust is a Community Admission Body which joined the 

Kent Fund on 27 September 2007 following a transfer of staff from 
Ashford Borough Council. 

 
32. Ashford Leisure Trust has given written notice to amend the terms of 

their admission agreement, so that no more of their employees can join 
the LGPS. Existing members will be allowed to continue their LGPS 
membership. 

 
33. As the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations have also been 

amended since the original admission agreement was made, it is 
proposed that a new admission agreement be entered into which reflects 
both this change and the changes in Regulations.  It is therefore 
necessary to enter into a revised legal agreement with the Ashford 
Leisure Trust.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
34. Members are asked to:  
 

(1) Agree to the admission to the Kent County Council Pension Fund 
of the successful bidder(s) for the East Kent total facilities 
management contract, and 

 

Page 40



(2) Agree to the admission to the Kent County Council Pension Fund 
of the successful bidder(s) for the Mid Kent total facilities 
management contract, and 

 
(3) Agree to the admission to the Kent County Council Pension Fund 

of the successful bidder(s) for the West Kent total facilities 
management contract, and 

 
(4) Agree to the admission to the Kent County Council Pension Fund 

of Medway Community Healthcare CIC, and 
 
(5) Agree that an amended agreement can be entered into with 

Superclean Services Wothorpe Limited, and 
 
(6) Agree that an amended agreement can be entered into with 

Mytime Active, and 
 
(7) Agree that a termination agreement may be entered into with 

Quadron Services Limited, and 
 
(8) Agree that an amended agreement can be entered into with HOPE 

(Kent) Limited, and 
 
(9) Agree that an amended legal agreement can be entered into with 

Ashford Leisure Trust, and 
 
 (11) Agree that once legal agreements have been prepared for (1) to 

(10) above, the Kent County Council seal can be affixed to the 
legal documents. 

 
 
 

Steven Tagg       
Treasury and Investments 
X4625 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
By: 
 

Chairman Superannuation Fund Committee 
Corporate Director of Finance and Procurement  
 

To: 
 

Superannuation Fund Committee –  7 February 2014 
Subject: 
 

GRANT THORNTON – COMING OF AGE: 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE LGPS 
 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted. 
 

 
Summary: 
 

 
To present the Grant Thornton report on the LGPS . 
  

FOR INFORMATION 
 

 

 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
1. In November 2013 Grant Thornton published their report on key issues facing 

the LGPS.  Their report is attached in the Appendix.     
 
2. The main issues identified are:   
 

Areas of Priority Focus Officer Comments 
• Pension Committees – issue of 

use of sub-groups and content of 
core periodic reports. 

• When previously considered the 
Committee did not wish to move to 
an investment sub-committee. 

• Regular reports are presented on 
liabilities and pensions 
administration. 

 
• Investment Strategies – regular 

review of investment strategy and 
consideration of liability driven 
investment strategies. 

• Investment strategy is regularly 
considered on an evolutionary 
basis. 

• The profile of liabilities is taken 
into account in setting investment 
strategy. 

 
 
 

• Identifying and managing risk – 
embedding risk management. 

• The Committee receives periodic 
reports on risk (next in March 
2014). 

• Inherently management of risk is 
central to most matters the 
Committee considers. 

•  
 

Agenda Item D2

Page 43



 

 

• Capacity, skills and knowledge – 
advocates formal action plans and 
consideration of independent 
professional trustees. 

• The Committee adopted the 
CIPFA Code in  

• Independent professional trustees 
have been considered in the past 
but rejected.  Preference was for 
Members and Officers skills and 
knowledge to be supplemented by 
the investment consultant.  

 
• Controls – Pension Funds should 

consider preparing a separate 
Annual Governance Statement 
and ensure a broad remit for 
Internal Audit. 

• Compared with a local authority 
the remit of the Superannuation 
Fund Committee is tightly drawn – 
would an AGS add value to 
governance? 

• Internal Audit do have a broad 
remit in relation to the Fund. 

 
• Administrative Cost review and 

reduction – report on pension 
admin costs. 

 

• Regular benchmarking reports 
presented to Committee.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
3. Members are asked to note this report. 
 

 
 

 
Nick Vickers 
Head of Financial Services 
Ext 4603 

Page 44



Coming of age: 
development of the LGPS

Improving governance in local government pension schemes

November 2013

Page 45



Page 46



1Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Executive summary 2

Background 4

How the pension committee works 6

Capacity and skills 9

Investment strategies 12

Risk management 15

Administration costs 16

Internal control and internal audit 17

Appendix 1: Questions for management and pension committees 19

About Grant Thornton 20

Contents

Page 47



2 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

This is Grant Thornton’s review of 

governance in LGPS funds, based on 

comprehensive research with pension 

fund senior of�cers and supported by 

insights from pension fund auditors. 

It aims to help managers and trustees 

assess the strength of their governance 

arrangements and to prepare for the 

challenges ahead.

The LGPS provides pension 

bene�ts to 4.6 million members across 

the UK and has over £150 billion of 

assets. There are 99 funds within the 

scheme, which offers great potential 

for mutual co-operation. 

LGPS funds are looking to 

strengthen their governance for many 

reasons. These include: increasing 

�nancial pressures on pension funds; 

the impact of regulatory changes 

following the Public Service Pensions 

Act 2013; and the Department for 

Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) led review of the structure 

of LGPS funds.

Increasing costs resulting from 

greater complexity in pension schemes 

and the overall pressure to ensure 

the LGPS is sustainable and can be 

fully funded at a cost affordable to its 

members and taxpayers are two further 

factors leading to the need to bolster 

governance arrangements.

There is a wide variety of practice in 

the management of LGPS funds across 

the UK. There are many well-managed 

LGPS funds, where pension committees 

have reviewed and improved how 

they work to strengthen governance 

arrangements and to achieve a more 

sustainable fund. Many funds are 

learning from each other and sharing 

expertise and capacity to achieve better 

results. In other cases, there is scope for 

signi�cant improvement. Interestingly, 

there is no evidence to suggest that 

the size of the fund affects their 

adequacy or effectiveness of 

governance arrangements. 

In this age of austerity, effective 

governance frameworks are essential to 

support sound decision making. During 

2014, we expect supporting regulations 

for implementation of the new LGPS 

governance framework set out in the 

Public Service Pension Act 2013 to 

be issued for LGPS funds in England 

and Wales. Changes for Scottish LGPS 

funds are expected to be implemented 

in 2015. We recommend that funds 

review their existing governance 

arrangements now to ensure they are 

in the strongest position prior to the 

implementation of the new national 

governance frameworks.

This report poses a number of 

questions for management and pension 

committees to help them assess the 

strength of existing governance 

arrangements. Together with the more 

detailed commentary and good practice 

examples in this report, these questions 

are intended to provide a basis for funds 

to assess and develop their governance 

arrangements.

Governance and structural arrangements in local government pension scheme (LGPS) 
funds are under considerable and increasing scrutiny. The English, Welsh and Scottish 
governments are seeking solutions to the increasing public sector pensions bill. Many funds 
are re-appraising and strengthening their governance arrangements in response.

Executive summary

Many funds are learning from each other 

and sharing expertise and capacity to 

achieve better results. 

Methodology

This report is based on a detailed survey of our 

auditors of 30 local government pension schemes. 

It covers almost 30% of funds in the UK. We support 

the survey findings with detailed discussions with 

auditors and council officers to understand and identify 

good practices plus a review of local government 

pension scheme websites. 

Our auditor survey’s findings are supplemented by 

responses to a higher level survey sent to senior 

officers managing local government pension 

fund schemes nationally. This survey included 

questions on key challenges, skills and capacity, 

and communications with members. 

Page 48



3Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Areas of priority focus:

2

Pension committees

The arrangements for pension committees and the way they 

work varies widely. Some are limited in scope, focusing on 

investments only. This ignores important aspects of pension 

fund management such as benefits administration, collection 

of contributions and ensuring the effective and efficient 

operation of the fund.

Seventy per cent of funds have a single pension committee 

with no supporting sub-committees, panels or groups. 

Those that do use sub-groups find they are able to act more 

quickly and flexibly and have a greater focus on the strategic 

management of the fund, while ensuring they give proper 

consideration to the important aspects of operation. 

While 95% of funds receive a performance report at each 

meeting, the majority of reports do not cover funding 

levels, liabilities, member cash flows, risk management or 

administration performance. Instead, they often concentrate 

on investment performance and investment manager 

performance alone.

Capacity, skills and knowledge

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) code of practice on public sector pensions finance 

knowledge came into effect from 1 April 2012. The code was 

devised in response to Lord Hutton’s recommendation that 

every public sector pension scheme should have a properly 

constituted, trained and competent pensions board. It also 

represents an important element in complying with the Myners 

principles of effective decision making.

The majority of funds have adopted CIPFA’s knowledge and 

skills framework and the move towards having a properly 

constituted, trained and competent pensions board. But only 

22% of funds are implementing action plans as a result. 

More funds should give serious consideration to the 

appointment of independent professional trustees and/or 

professional advisers who can support the work of pension 

committees. They can provide a continuity of experience and 

knowledge across the range of the pension fund activities 

and support the sharing of practices across the public and 

private sector. 

There are many examples of funds working together to reduce 

costs, share expertise and improve services. The lessons 

learnt from these exercises and the benefits in terms of cost 

and effectiveness need to be pulled together and shared at 

a national level.

Investment strategies

Some funds maintain a continuous strategic review of their 

investment strategies and over half have changed strategies 

significantly in recent years. Others concentrate on in-year 

performance of investment managers and only periodically 

review their strategy. Investment strategies need to have a 

long-term focus. However, it is also important to review the 

investment strategy continually in order to understand the 

potential impact of market trends, fund demographics and 

regulatory factors, and to be prepared to make changes 

when appropriate.

Only a small number of funds have started to explore liability 

management through their investment strategies. This is an 

important gap when funding deficits are rising, as the increase 

in the value of their liabilities can outstrip the improvement in 

investment performance. Liability-driven investment strategies 

match the investment strategy to any changes in the value of 

liabilities. For example, this will mean moving towards a more 

gilts-based investment strategy or using hedging instruments to 

guard against changes in inflation, interest rates and longevity.

As funds change their investment strategies, they are moving 

into more complex areas to achieve greater diversification and 

reduced volatility. More complex strategies require different 

skills and knowledge, which not all funds can access. 

Controls

Pension funds would benefit from completing their own 

separate annual governance statement. This would ensure 

that they give their governance arrangements the same depth 

of consideration that the administering authority gives to its 

other activities.

While internal audit of pension funds exists in all bar 7% of 

cases, its coverage is variable and often focused narrowly 

on the payment of pensions and receipt of contributions. 

For example, in 45% of funds internal audit did not complete 

any work around investments. Where internal audit is provided, 

the results are only reported to the pension committee at 

42% of funds.

Identifying and managing risk

Only 25% of funds provide regular (more than once a year) 

reports on important risks affecting the fund to their pension 

committee. Again, there is a wide range of practice and some 

funds focus only on investment risks. Over half of those that 

do provide regular reports also report on other risks such 

as liabilities, administration and process risks. Some funds 

have embedded risk management throughout their overall 

performance management of the fund. This results in greater 

clarity over the risks and how they are managed, and providing 

assurances to management, trustees and contributors. 

Administration cost review and reduction

Administrative costs are relatively small compared to the 

size of the pension funds and their deficits. However, it is 

important that funds understand their costs and are taking 

action to reduce them. Sixty per cent of funds benchmark 

their costs and have reduced them in recent years through 

a variety of actions. For others, this is an under-developed 

area with around 40% not taking any action. Reporting to 

pension committees on administration costs and savings is 

also under-developed.

Page 49



4 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Background

Context

Governance arrangements for LGPS 

funds remain under considerable 

scrutiny. Many funds are re-appraising 

and strengthening their current 

arrangements to ensure the LGPS is 

sustainable and can be fully funded at 

a cost affordable to its members and 

tax payers. 

The factors affecting this include 

an increasingly complex regulatory 

environment (see ‘Regulatory factors’ 

box out) and ever-growing �nancial 

pressures. These pressures are 

increasing due to a combination of:

• dif�cult market conditions affecting 

investments and the valuation of 

liabilities

• reducing levels of contributions as 

local authorities reduce staff numbers

• increasing pension payments due to 

increasing numbers of retirements

• increasing longevity of members.

In addition, the Department of 

Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) led review of the future 

structure of LGPS funds has called for 

evidence on these structures. This is 

with a view to improving ef�ciency and 

investment performance in the LGPS, 

while maintaining a high level 

of accountability to local taxpayers 

and interested parties.

Investment strategies 

Information systems 

Performance management 

Communication

Ensuring fit for purpose 

governance arrangements

Global economic 

markets/demographics

New rules Pensions regulator
Reducing 

active members

Governance framework

Regulatory factors 

The sector is facing a number of regulatory changes with a corresponding impact 

on LGPS structures and governance. 

The Public Service Pension 
Act 2013

The changes made to LGPS as a 

result of this act, which are due to 

implemented in April 2014 in England 

and Wales (referred to as LGPS 2014), 

will include:

• the introduction of a career average 

scheme with accompanying legislation 

requiring more detailed record keeping 

by pension funds and the maintenance 

of a separate pension account for each 

member of the scheme

• the creation of a new governance 

structure that brings the LGPS within 

the remit of The Pensions Regulator 

• the creation of a national LGPS advisory 

board and local pension boards.

The creation of the national 
scheme advisory board

This board is set up under section 7 of 

the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. 

It is operating in shadow form until the 

relevant LGPS governance regulations 

are laid out. Its role is to encourage 

best practice, including transparency, 

and to co-ordinate technical and 

standards issues. Five sub-committees 

have now been set up, one dealing 

with governance and standards. It will 

be important for all funds to be aware 

of the work of the board and any 

recommendations it may make. 

Figure 1 Key factors facing the sector

Page 50



5Coming of age – development of the LGPS

It is important to recognise that some 

aspects of the work of pension funds 

are not directly controllable by them, 

although the LGPS community as a 

whole is working to in�uence them. 

These include:

• the LGPS (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 

2009 which restricts the investments 

that LGPS funds can make. It is 

dif�cult to see why this level of 

prescription is required for the LGPS 

but not for other pension funds. 

A duty to manage investment risks 

effectively and meet longer-term 

funding objectives would be a more 

mature way of regulating this area

• the variability of actuarial 

assumptions, which mean that the 

size of a fund’s liabilities are affected 

signi�cantly by the actuary they use. 

The industry accepts that a range 

of assumptions are justi�able and 

appropriate. However, for pension 

funds, a small difference in critical 

assumptions, particularly around 

the discount rate, can result in a 

signi�cant difference in the overall 

value of liabilities.

Re
du

ci
ng

 a
dm

in
is
tr
at

io
n

Senior officers perceived investment returns and deficit recovery to be the top two 

challenges facing their pension funds. Liability management and communicating 

changes to employers, employees and other pension fund members came joint third.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

In
ve

st
m

en
t r

et
ur

ns

In
ve

st
m

en
t v

al
ue

s

Se
cu

rit
y 
of

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

Vo
la
til
ity

 o
f i

nv
es

tm
en

ts

Li
ab

ilit
y 
m

an
ag

em
en

t

M
ai
nt

ai
ni
ng

 m
em

be
rs

hi
p

Im
pl
em

en
tin

g

ca
re

er
 a

dv
an

ta
ge

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

in
g 

ch
an

ge
s

O
th

er

Figure 2 Main challenges to pension funds
De

fic
it 

re
co

ve
ry

LGPS response

In response to these challenges, a 

number of pension funds have been 

making changes to how they manage 

their funds and the related governance 

arrangements. These include:

• signi�cant changes to investment 

strategies – moving into new areas 

and new types of investments to 

improve returns, reduce volatility and 

achieve greater security of assets in the 

longer-term

• developing their approach to liability 

management

• increasing scrutiny over the value for 

money offered by their fund managers 

and advisers, and over general 

administration costs 

• recognising the need to provide clear 

communications around the changes 

to the LGPS from 1 April 2014 and 

the implementation of automatic 

enrolment.

All of these changes are dependent 

on good decision making, which 

emphasises the need for:

• robust arrangements for developing 

the capacity and capability of of�cers 

and members

• a culture of strong governance

• effective risk management

• effective internal audit

• effective scrutiny and challenge

• accessible and useful communications 

to stakeholders

• appropriate and reliable information.

Page 51



6 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

How the pension committee works

The statutory framework

Currently, pension committees are not 

a statutory requirement, but guidance 

from the secretary of state expects 

LGPS schemes to operate them. While 

their terms of reference differ, they 

largely perform the important role 

of setting the strategic direction and 

overseeing the overall management of 

the pension fund.

LGPS 2014 will introduce 

the requirement for each locally 

administered LGPS fund to have 

a pensions board and a scheme 

manager. Where the scheme manager 

is a committee of the local authority, 

section 5 of the Public Services Act 

2013 allows for that committee also to 

be the pensions board. The exact way 

in which these work will depend on 

the supporting regulations, which are 

expected to be put in place during 2014.

The main role of the new pensions 

board is to ensure compliance with 

regulations. The government is 

consulting on whether an existing 

pension fund committee – whose 

normal role is to ensure effective 

management of the fund – could 

also be a pensions board. 

Whatever the new arrangements are, 

there will be some important changes. 

These will include:

• a clearly speci�ed minimum role 

for the board

• a greater emphasis on avoiding 

con�icts of interest and ensuring 

effective internal control

• the introduction of an employer cost 

cap – and monitoring and actions to 

keep within it

• the introduction of regulatory 

oversight by The Pensions Regulator.

Over the coming year, it will be 

important to ensure that the pension 

committee and pension board are �t for 

purpose. Existing committees may �nd 

it useful to re-appraise their current 

way of working in this context.

Cumbria Pension Fund has an investment sub-group 

consisting of members, senior officers and the fund’s 

advisers. This group deals with the detailed monitoring of 

individual fund managers and investment decisions within the 

investment strategy as agreed by the full committee. The 

director of finance has delegated decision making authority, 

subject to tight rules. This enables the pension committee to 

focus more on strategic management of the fund, which, for 

example, has improved the scrutiny and challenge of benefits 

administration. The sub-group’s structure, plus enhanced 

investment training for its members, enables detailed 

investment decisions to be actioned more responsively 

outside the constraints of a formal committee timetable, 

while ensuring it is working within the overall strategy set by 

the pension committee. 

Lancashire Pension Fund has a similar arrangement with 

its investment panel. The fund has made significant changes 

to its investment strategy involving considerable alterations 

to portfolio mandates, changes in investment managers and 

the creation of an in-house managed portfolio. The creation 

of the panel has been essential in enabling these changes as 

it has allowed far greater flexibility and responsiveness 

in decision making.

Case studies: Sub-groups bring flexibility

Page 52



7Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Current practice

Most, but not all, LGPS funds have 

a pension committee. Given the size 

and complexity of these funds, we 

recommend they have a separate 

committee to provide the necessary 

level of governance.

The way they work varies widely 

across the UK. Due to the multi-

employer nature of many of these 

funds, and the need to have adequate 

representation, such committees can 

be large. Most of the funds operate 

as a single committee. Less than a 

third are supported by panels and/

or sub-committees covering such 

areas as investments and pensions 

administration.

Some committees have created 

additional groups to consider, for 

example ethics, governance and audit 

issues; and to more widely represent 

stakeholders on important issues such 

as the annual report.

The value of the sub-groups is to 

allow a smaller number of people to 

consider and debate important areas, 

enabling the larger, full committee to 

concentrate on the overall performance 

of the fund and its strategic response. 

Pension funds that have formed 

informal sub-groups have found 

that this adds more �exibility and 

responsiveness than the formal 

committee structure allows.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Fu
nd

 m
an

ag
er

 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce

In
ve

st
m

en
t

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
In
ve

st
m

en
t a

llo
ca

tio
n

v 
st

ra
te

gy

Fu
nd

in
g 

le
ve

l
Pe

ns
io
ns

 a
dm

in
is
tr
at

io
n 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
Ri

sk
 m

an
ag

em
en

t

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

Li
ab

ilit
ie
s

O
th

er

Figure 3 Percentage of performance reports covering each specified area

The clarity of the strategic framework 

agreed by a pension committee, and the 

rules around delegation and reporting 

back, are all essential to enable such 

arrangements to work effectively 

without losing accountability.

In some cases, the scope of the 

pension committee only covers 

investments and not the wider 

management of the fund. Even where 

the scope is wider, the work of the 

pension committee is often focused 

on investment performance and 

reviewing the performance of 

individual managers.

While 95% of funds receive a 

performance report at each meeting, 

in the majority of cases this does 

not cover funding levels, liabilities, 

member cash �ows, risk management 

or administration performance. Instead, 

performance reports often concentrate 

on the performance of managers and 

their investments.

Page 53



8 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Lancashire Pension Fund’s 

performance report clearly sets 

out upfront the following three key 

indicators of performance:

1 Update of funding position, using 

actuarial, roll-forward tools

2 Cash flow position comparing 

member payments against 

contributions and the level of 

investment income

3 Investment returns against their 

benchmark of gilts +2.5%. This 

enables the fund to understand 

how it is performing against the 

actuarial assumptions and therefore 

the extent to which it is reducing its 

funding deficit

This report is discussed at the 

beginning of each meeting and sets 

the context for all other items. This has 

necessitated moving the Part II items 

to the beginning of the agenda. 

A separate pensions administration 

report is also provided showing 

performance against agreed targets.

Merseyside Pension Fund has 

developed an annual business plan 

for the management of its pension 

fund. This clearly sets out the specific 

strategic projects agreed for the year, 

linked to fund developments.

The business plan incorporates a risk 

register for projects, analysing the 

probability of events occurring and 

the impact they would have. Reports 

on progress to date and any specific 

issues encountered are provided to 

members of the governance and risk 

working group during the year.

Case studies: Keeping a focus on strategic level performance

Looking at the wide range of risks 

that LGPS funds face, it is dif�cult to 

see how committees with a narrow 

focus can ful�l their role of offering 

the necessary challenge and scrutiny 

to ensure the funds are being managed 

effectively. The implementation of 

LGPS 2014 will, in any event, require a 

review of the scope of responsibilities 

for existing pension committees and/or 

pension boards.

A number of pension committees 

ensure a more strategic level debate 

and challenge all aspects of the fund 

by using performance reports. These 

collate a picture of performance across 

all aspects of the pension fund and 

highlight trends and actions being taken 

to address any risks.

Next steps
LGPS 2014 introduces some new factors which the pension 

committee and/or new pension boards will need to have 

oversight of. This will include monitoring the newly introduced 

cost cap, and giving greater attention to ensuring compliance 

with the scheme regulations and the requirements imposed by 

The Pensions Regulator.

As soon as the expected requirements around the working 

of pension boards and scheme managers become clearer, 

pension committees will need to consider how they might 

move towards the new requirements. Within this, they may 

need to re-consider the necessary skill sets of the committee.

Pension committees should ask:

• are our current arrangements fit for purpose?

• do they cover all aspects of the management of the 

pension fund and do they enable us to consider and 

challenge effectively our overall strategy for the fund’s 

management?

• how have we added value in our role as a committee 

during the last year or so?

• do we have sufficient information and understanding to 

challenge effectively?

• what needs to change?

Page 54



9Coming of age – development of the LGPS

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Figure 5 Stages of response to CIPFA’s code

Capacity and skills

Background

Managing and operating a pension 

fund requires specialist knowledge and 

skills. The same is true for the members 

of the pension committee whose role 

it is to provide effective oversight and 

challenge. As the environment within 

which pension funds operate becomes 

more complex, this will be an even 

greater challenge.

Senior officers of LGPS funds told us 

they were reasonably confident that 

officers had the skills and capacity to 

respond to the challenges ahead. 

But they were slightly less confident 

about the skills and capacity of 

committee members.

The lower level of con�dence in the 

skills of members of the pension fund 

committee is not surprising given the 

specialist nature of pension funds. 

Elected members may not have a 

relevant background and they are 

subject to change following each set of 

elections. This is a particular challenge 

for LGPS funds.

Current practice

CIPFA produced a code of practice for 

knowledge and skills for those involved 

in the management and administration 

of pension funds in 2011. This came 

with a self-assessment toolkit that 

enables them to identify skills gaps 

and �ll them.

Underpinning the code is a 

recognition that effective management 

can only be achieved where:

Figure 4 Senior officer confidence in the skills and capacity to respond to future challenges

0%

2

1

10%

3

4

5

C
o
nf

id
e
nc

e

(1
=

 n
o
t 

c
o
nf

id
e
nt

 >
 5

 =
 v

e
ry

 c
o
nf

id
e
nt

)

20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Confidence in members of the pension fund committee

 Confidence in officers involved in the management of the fund

Co
m

pl
et

ed
 a

 s
el
f 

as
se

ss
m

en
t

O
th

er

De
ve

lo
pe

d 
a 

pl
an

 to
 

ad
dr

es
s 

ga
ps N
on

e

Im
pl
em

en
te

d/

im
pl
em

en
tin

g 
pl
an

1 Those involved have the requisite 

skills and knowledge

2 Formal and comprehensive objectives, 

policies and practices are in place 

to ensure effective acquisition and 

retention of such knowledge and skills

3 Such policies and practices are guided 

be reference to a comprehensive 

framework of knowledge and skills 

requirements

4 There is a nominated individual 

responsible for ensuring that these 

policies are implemented

While 86% of funds have adopted the 

CIPFA code of practice, there is a wide 

variation in the stage of implementation 

achieved. Only 22% had implemented 

the action plan arising from this 

analysis. For others, there has been no 

reference to this issue since the original 

adoption of the code.

Page 55



10 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

The LGPS has an additional challenge 

in relation to the continuity of 

membership of the pension committee 

which can change signi�cantly 

following local elections. This makes 

it particularly dif�cult to maintain 

a continuous or improving level 

of knowledge and skills within the 

committee. The majority of funds 

do have a continuous programme of 

training for their pension committees, 

but it is unclear how much of this is 

targeted following an analysis of needs.

Case study

Training policy at work at Cumbria

Cumbria Pension Fund’s committee 

has agreed a training policy 

incorporating mandatory sessions 

for all members of the committee 

and potential substitutes. It follows 

this with a relatively simple self-

assessment for all members. The fund 

uses this to identify common gaps 

in understanding and provide further 

training where necessary.

Where the fund is considering new 

strategies or products, specific 

training is provided prior to the 

committee’s considerations. It also 

provides all members with a reference 

pack of important documents and 

adds to this over time.

In the private sector, there is a growing 

preference for the appointment of an 

independent professional chair, who 

performs this role across a number of 

pension funds. This brings a depth and 

breadth of experience that private funds 

are �nding to be increasingly helpful.

This arrangement is not directly 

transferable to LGPS since chairs 

of pension committees need to be 

elected members in line with the Local 

Government Act 1972. However, 

the DCLG guidance on governance 

compliance statements does recognise 

the value of making this type of 

expertise available to pension funds. 

The guidance encourages pension funds 

to invite an independent professional 

observer to “participate in the 

governance arrangement to enhance 

experience, continuity, knowledge, 

impartiality and performance of 

committees or panels”. 

Many pension committees employ 

professional investment advisers, but 

few employ a wider pension fund 

adviser. In some cases, the investment 

advisers have such a broad range 

of experience that they can and do 

provide that wider perspective across 

the whole management of the pension 

fund. Given the increasingly complex 

and challenging environment within 

which funds are operating, pension 

committees should be looking to gain 

access to such advice if they do not 

already have it. 

In addition to professional 

investment advisers, pension 

funds can appoint co-opted voting 

members to their committees. These 

are independent of all employers, 

members and other stakeholders. As 

voting members, these appointees 

can bring a depth of experience, 

gained from executive and non-

executive appointments, to bear on 

the full scope of management issues 

Co-opted members widen 

experience at Avon fund

Avon Pension Fund’s committee has 

two independent, co-opted members 

who have full voting rights. The two 

members were appointed following a 

normal recruitment process and were 

selected to ensure they brought to 

the committee a range of investment, 

pension administration and financial 

experience. They also bring the 

benefits of continuity, independence, 

expertise and wider board or private 

sector experience. This has proved 

invaluable in ensuring continuity of the 

decision making process, diversifying 

the expertise of the committee and 

bringing broader experience to the 

committee in areas such as risk 

management and governance.

Case study

considered by a pension committee. 

The additional costs associated with 

any of these options would need careful 

consideration.

For many funds, as they review 

the way in which they work to reduce 

costs, deliver changes in pension 

administration and implement more 

complex investment strategies, the 

answer to gaps in of�cer’s capacity or 

skills is to work collaboratively with 

others. They can do this either through 

formal contractual arrangements or 

through partnerships. 

18% of respondents to our external 

survey had bought in additional 

expertise/capacity and 36% were 

working in partnership with other 

pension funds to address these gaps.

Page 56



11Coming of age – development of the LGPS

National LGPS frameworks

Created by ‘LGPS funds, for 

LGPS funds’, the national LGPS 

frameworks are multi-user, multi-

provider procurement frameworks. 

They are open to all LGPS funds and 

employing authorities nationally, for the 

procurement of services from a range 

of qualified providers.

The frameworks are designed to 

save significant time and money for 

LGPS funds and ensure best practice, 

European Union compliant procurement 

and access to services with proven 

track record and expertise. The 

frameworks allow the LGPS funds to 

use their combined purchasing power 

while still supporting local accountability, 

decision making and service needs.

Frameworks available now or coming 

soon include:

• benefit and actuarial consultancy 

services

• investment consultancy services

• global custody services (from 

October 2013)

• legal services (from summer 2014).

Some of the benefits of using the 

frameworks include:

• a fast, efficient and European Union 

compliant procurement framework:

– procurement timescales reduced 

from six to 12 months to four to 

eight weeks

– procurement overheads cut by 

90% (for example, custodian 

procurement costs reduced from 

£100,000 to £10,000)

• access to pre-agreed terms and 

conditions

• ceiling prices reduced by further 

competition at tender and a 

collaborative rebate for all funds that 

let services from the framework

• straightforward ‘call off’ process 

with detailed user guides, support 

and templates

• additional benefits, for example, 

user groups to optimise the LGPS 

buying power.

The frameworks were initially the 

result of collaboration between 

Buckinghamshire, Cambridgeshire, 

Croydon, Hackney, Lincolnshire, 

Northamptonshire, Norfolk and Suffolk 

pension funds. They are now supported 

by procurement, legal and project 

management specialists from Norfolk 

County Council and the Norfolk 

Pension Fund.

Next steps
Bearing in mind managers’ and 

pension committees’ best view 

on the future strategy for their 

fund and the changes they are 

expecting to implement over the 

medium-term, they should ask:

• do members of the pension 

committee have a sufficient level 

of knowledge and understanding? 

• do members of the pension 

committee have access to 

expert advice covering the full 

range of the management of the 

pension fund?

• are we doing enough to access 

the skills and capacity across 

the LGPS that will enable us to 

fulfil our roles efficiently and 

effectively?

• do we know where our gaps in 

capacity and skills are? Are we 

ensuring an effective plan is in 

place to address them?

• what do we need to change? 

There are many examples of joint 

working across the LGPS nationally. 

Funds report that this has resulted in 

a reduction in costs and it has enabled 

the sharing of expertise in particular 

areas and the creation of centres of 

excellence. These include shared 

procurement exercises for actuarial 

and custodial services, shared bene�t 

administration services, and investment 

consultancy services. To aid the national 

debate around the future structure of 

the LGPS, it would be helpful to see 

more clearly stated outcomes about the 

costs and bene�ts of such exercises. 

Page 57



12 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Investment strategies

Background

The investment strategy is a crucial 

part of the management of any pension 

fund. An effective investment strategy 

is critical to ensuring the sustainability 

of the fund and providing for the 

pension needs of its members in the 

long-term.

The volatility of investment markets 

following the �nancial crisis had a 

signi�cant impact on funding levels. 

But investment strategies have to �t the 

long-term nature of pension funds and 

are not expected to change in response 

to every short-term change in the 

market.

Investment strategies should be 

kept under continuous review in light 

of changes to the nature of the fund 

as well as investment markets. Recent 

changes to the LGPS regulations have 

also given funds a little more �exibility 

in the distribution of their funds, 

allowing an increase in the proportion 

of funds that can be invested in 

partnerships from 15% to 30%. 

Any signi�cant change to an 

investment strategy usually involves 

changing portfolios and investment 

managers. These require major 

procurement exercises with time and 

cost implications. It is particularly 

important to keep the investment 

strategy under review in this context. 

Once a strategy is set, changes would 

only be expected where there have 

been signi�cant changes in the fund, 

relevant investment markets, or in 

regulation. Most funds have reported 

improvements in asset values since the 

last actuarial valuations in 2010. They 

have also reported a bigger increase in 

their liabilities due to the change in gilt 

and corporate bond yields. This is a 

consequence of investments being more 

heavily weighted towards return giving 

assets, such as equities, absolute return 

funds and property, whose values have 

not increased at the same rate as fund 

liabilities.

Figures reported by funds showed 

a gradual deterioration in the average 

funding rate between 2010 and 31 

March 2012, from 75.5% to 71%. The 

�rst full results of the 2013 actuarial 

valuation are just starting to emerge and 

these will provide increased clarity over 

the latest funding positions. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

20
10

20
11

20
12

Figure 6 Average funding levels

Investment strategies should be kept 

under continuous review in light of 

changes to the nature of the fund as 

well as investment markets.

Page 58



13Coming of age – development of the LGPS

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

To
 re

du
ce

 v
ol
at

ilit
y

To
 in

cr
ea

se

 in
ve

st
m

en
t i

nc
om

e

O
th

er
 (m

ix
tu

re
 o

f 

in
cr

ea
se

 d
iv
er

si
fic

at
io
n 

an
d 

re
du

ce
 v
ol
at

ilit
y)

To
 re

du
ce

 c
re

di
t r

is
k

To
 in

cr
ea

se
 li
qu

id
ity

Figure 7 Key aims of changes to investment strategiesCurrent practice

Over 50% of funds have made 

signi�cant changes to their investment 

strategies in recent years. It is perhaps 

surprising that more have not done so. 

The main aims of those changes have 

been to reduce volatility and to improve 

performance by diversifying portfolios 

into new areas. 

Case study

Lancashire investment strategy 

changes reap early results

Since 2011, Lancashire Pension Fund 

has made substantial asset allocation 

and fund manager changes to reduce 

volatility and increase diversification. 

It has reduced the equity portfolio, 

moved from largely UK based 

investments into global investments, 

and started using more active investing 

styles. While performance should be 

viewed over the medium- rather than 

the short-term, the fund has seen 

immediate effects. The overall return 

achieved during 2012/13 was 14.9% 

compared to the benchmark return of 

13.5%, the actuarial liability benchmark 

of Gilts+2.5% (7.9%) and the average 

local authority return of 13.8%. The 

majority of out-performance has come 

from new active equity mandates, 

property and internally managed 

funds. To support the fund in making 

the changes, it has recruited specific 

capital markets expertise into its in-

house team. 

A relatively small number of funds are 

also looking to reduce their liability 

risk. Traditionally, LGPS funds 

have not considered liability risk 

management as part of an investment 

strategy. This is despite the fact that it 

has been an integral part of investment 

strategies in the private sector for 

many years.

Liability risk cannot be ignored. 

Integrating it into an investment 

strategy does, however, require a 

different knowledge and skill set and 

funds will need to consider this. 

Some funds have not reviewed their 

strategies for several years, and 

only reviewed the performance of 

individual fund managers in the 

interim. Investment strategies do need 

to have a long-term focus. However, 

it is also important to review the 

strategy continually, to understand the 

potential impact of market trends, fund 

demographics and regulatory factors 

on such strategies, and be prepared to 

make changes when appropriate. As 

regular changes to investment strategies 

can be disruptive and costly, they 

should only be made where there are 

signi�cant factors highlighting a need 

for change.

Page 59



14 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Next steps
We suggest management and pension committees should ask:

• do we have the right information to help us to understand the 

important factors affecting our funding position?

• is our current investment strategy appropriate in light of this 

information?

• do we need to consider managing our liability risk?

• do we have the right skills, knowledge and capacity to deal with 

a more complex investment environment?

• what do we need to change?

Once set, review of strategy and performance should concentrate on 

three factors:

1 Performance against pre-set benchmarks

2 Quarterly estimated funding positions

3 Any changes in the underlying nature of the fund

In setting an investment strategy there 

are four key factors which apply to 

all funds:

1 Strength of the employer covenant – 

that is, the degree to which funds can 

rely on the employer being there in 

the future to pay future contributions. 

A weaker employer covenant should 

result in a lower risk investment 

strategy. This would also normally 

include consideration of the ability of 

the employer to pay a given level of 

contribution. In the LGPS context, 

this will include consideration of the 

impact of the employer contributions 

cap introduced by LGPS 2014

2 The funding target set by the 

employers and trustees. For example, 

a fund looking to bridge a funding gap 

of 25% within 10 years will adopt a 

different strategy from one that seeks 

achieve this over 20 years 

3 The pro�le of the fund’s liabilities 

in terms of its exposure to risks such 

as in�ation, longevity and interest 

rate risks

4 The pro�le of the settlement of 

the liabilities

Page 60



15Coming of age – development of the LGPS

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Risk management

Background

Effective risk management is an 

essential part of any governance 

framework as it identi�es risks and 

the actions required to mitigate their 

potential impact. For a pension fund, 

those risks will come from a range of 

sources including the funding position, 

investment performance, membership 

changes, bene�ts administration, costs, 

communications and �nancial systems. 

Good information is important to 

help ensure the complete and effective 

identi�cation of signi�cant risks and 

the ability to monitor those risks. 

Current practice

Again, there is a wide variation of 

practice across pension funds in this 

area and in some it appears under-

developed. Only 24% of funds provide 

regular (more than once a year) reports 

to their pension committees on the 

main risks affecting the fund. The most 

commonly reported risks are around 

investment. Over half of those who 

do provide regular reports on key 

Figure 8 Reporting of risks to pension committees

Other

Processes/

controls risks

Pensions

administration

risks

Liability risks

Investment risks

Next steps
We suggest management and 

pension committees should ask:

• do we understand the range 

of risks to the long-term 

sustainability of the fund and 

its efficient and effective 

management?

• do we know how those risks 

are being managed and are 

we confident they are being 

managed effectively?

• what needs to change in 

this regard?

Norfolk Pension Fund operates a 

comprehensive risk register, which 

covers all aspects of the pension 

fund’s activities. This is reported to 

members of the pension committee on 

a six-monthly basis. It is accompanied 

by a clear summary of the main risks 

affecting the fund and the actions being 

taken to address them, together with 

the wider implications for the fund. 

A number of funds have established 

separate risk sub-committees or 

working groups. In some cases, they 

have broadened these into risk and 

governance groups. The advantage of 

such groups is to enable more detailed 

consideration of and development of 

de-risking strategies for specific risks. 

For example, this includes monitoring 

of progress on key projects; reviewing 

benchmarking data; and consideration 

of risks around implementing LGPS 

2014 and risks around employer 

profiles as the number of smaller 

admitted bodies grows. 

Case studies: Maintaining a focus on risk

risks also report on other risks such as 

liabilities and administration risks. A 

relatively new risk being picked up by 

some funds is around the acceptance 

of an increasing number of admitted 

bodies with the potential future 

liabilities they may bring.

In November 2012, CIPFA 

produced a paper on ‘Managing risk 

in the LGPS’. As a result, we have 

seen reports going through to pension 

committees around risk management 

and the production of risk registers. 

This is early days and funds must 

avoid viewing and treating the registers 

as stand-alone documents with little 

impact on the management of risk. It 

is also essential that the identi�cation 

and management of risks is integral to 

the overall performance management 

of the fund. As such, any performance 

reporting for the fund should also 

include clear identi�cation of key risks 

and how they are being managed.

Page 61



16 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Administration costs

Background

There is a national focus on the 

administration costs of the LGPS. 

The existence of 99 separately managed 

funds raises questions about whether 

a re-organisation of those funds could 

improve performance and reduce 

administration costs. By ‘administration 

costs’ we mean the costs of investment 

managers’ services and investment 

transactions as well as the cost of 

administering the fund.

It is important for any organisation 

to keep its administration costs 

down, but especially so in the current 

economic climate. On average, funds 

report the costs of administration and 

investment managers as £6 million a 

year, but funds report a wide range 

within this. 

These costs are relatively small 

amounts in the context of an individual 

fund, but across 99 funds, they are 

signi�cant. Investment transactional 

costs are often re�ected in bid or offer 

prices and therefore ‘lost’ within the 

cost of purchases and sales and would 

be additional to this cost. Costs can 

�uctuate considerably between years 

where signi�cant portfolio changes 

or procurement exercises are being 

undertaken.

Current practice

Practice varies across the country. 

About 60% of funds have undertaken 

exercises to review their administration 

costs and to reduce them in recent 

years. This has included tendering 

exercises for various services, 

£0m

£5m

£10m

£15m

£20m

£25m

£30m

Funds

Figure 9 Administration costs

Average

implementing ef�ciency savings, 

benchmarking and ‘other’ options, 

for example re-negotiating/specifying 

existing contracts. However, over 

40% have not undertaken any work 

in this area.

Where funds have completed work 

to achieve savings in administration, 

most have not reported the value 

of such savings to their pension 

committees. Only three of the funds we 

audit had reported savings in this way. 

The savings totalled £1.4 million across 

the three funds.

Next steps
We suggest management and 

pension committees should ask:

• do we know what our fund 

administration costs are and 

what they consist of?

• have we done anything in recent 

years to review and reduce 

those costs and if so what?

• is their more we can do to 

reduce our administration costs 

or to be more efficient in the 

way the fund is managed?

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

N
on

e

Co
m

pe
tit

iv
e 

te
nd

er
in
g 

ex
er

ci
se

s

Ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
sa

vi
ng

s 
on

 

in
-h
ou

se
 c

os
ts

Be
nc

hm
ar

ki
ng

ex
er

ci
se

s

O
th

er

Figure 10 Actions taken to reduce the administration costs and investment management expenses of the fund

Page 62



17Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Internal control and internal audit

Background

As with any governance framework, 

reliable systems of internal control are 

important to provide the assurances 

that processes are operating effectively. 

This should reduce the risk of failing 

to achieve objectives. Internal audit 

is usually a core part of providing 

management with assurance that the 

system of internal control is operating 

effectively via the auditor’s review and 

testing of such processes.

Increasing complexity in pension benefits 

administration and in the investment 

environment means the need for good 

internal control is stronger than ever.

Current arrangements

Usually, the fund is just one element 

of the work of the wider local 

authority. The administering body’s 

audit committee and the internal 

auditor consider the internal control 

arrangements as part of that wider 

framework.

The annual governance statement 

of administering authorities sets out 

how responsible of�cers and members 

obtain assurance around the overall 

governance of the organisation and 

whether there are any speci�c issues 

which need to be addressed. In only 

25% of our funds does this statement 

refer speci�cally to the pension fund.

Pension funds often refer to their 

governance compliance statement 

which they are required to publish 

within their annual report in mitigation. 

However, this statement does not serve 

the same purpose and in particular it 

does not show clearly the assurances 

over risks and controls that have 

been obtained during the year, nor 

any signi�cant issues arising, nor any 

resultant action plans. Instead, the 

governance compliance statement 

shows the extent to which funds’ 

governance arrangements comply 

with DCLG guidance on committee 

structure, membership, voting rights, 

training, frequency of meetings, 

access to committee papers, scope 

and publicity.

Pension administration is about 

to become more complex with the 

introduction of a career average 

scheme. Three elements that will 

increase complexity are:

1 Relatively complex rules around 

protection for accrued pensions

2 Introduction of a 50/50 option, 

whereby members can opt to 

reduce contributions by 50% to 

obtain 50% less pension

3 Contribution bandings based on 

actual pay for part-time workers 

rather than full-time equivalent pay

Page 63



18 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Figure 11 Internal audit coverage of pension funds over the last three years

Tendering of 

contracts

Expenses

Investments

Contributions

Pensions

payments

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Most funds have specific coverage by 

internal audit, although 7% of funds 

have no internal audit coverage at all. 

The range of coverage by internal audit 

teams also varies, with most internal audit 

plans covering pension payments and 

contributions, and just over half covering 

investments and expenses. 

Any internal audit plan is based 

on a risk assessment of the overall 

control risks facing the administering 

authority as a whole. The danger of not 

considering the pension fund separately 

is that pension fund risks are not given 

the signi�cance they may require.

While internal audit make their 

reports to audit committees, only 

42% of them reported their plan 

and outcomes back to the pension 

committee. It is dif�cult for the 

members of the pension committee 

to carry out their role without 

that assurance. 

Next steps
We suggest management and 

pension committees should ask:

• what are our sources of 

assurance that the controls 

affecting the pension fund are 

operating effectively?

• if we want some additional 

assurance, do we have a way 

of doing that?

• are we aware of any controls 

issues and, if so, do we know 

if they are being addressed 

effectively?

• does our annual governance 

statement cover the activities of 

the pension fund adequately?

• what do we need to change?

Obtaining assurance over 
effectiveness of controls

Where internal audit do report to the 

pension committee, the common 

approach is that a separate internal 

audit plan is produced and discussed 

with the pension committee. It covers 

all aspects of the pension fund 

operation. They receive reports during 

the year on the conduct of the audit 

and its outcome as well as an annual 

report of the internal auditor’s findings 

in respect of the pension fund. This 

enables the pension committee to 

have a good understanding of the 

control environment as it impacts on 

the pension fund and gives them an 

opportunity to feed into the internal 

auditor’s risk assessment. 

Page 64



19Coming of age – development of the LGPS

Appendix 1 

Questions for management 
and pension committees

Throughout this report we have posed a number of questions that management and 
pension committees could use to help them to consider and challenge the way in which 
their pension fund is operated. These questions are summarised below to assist with any 
such review.

How the pension committee works 

• Are our current arrangements �t 

for purpose?

• Do they cover all aspects of the 

management of the pension fund 

and do they enable us to consider 

and challenge effectively our overall 

strategy for the fund’s management?

• How have we added value in our role 

as a committee during the last year 

or so?

• Do we have suf�cient information 

and understanding to challenge 

effectively?

• What needs to change?

Capacity and skills

• Do members of the pension 

committee have a suf�cient level of 

knowledge and understanding? 

• Do members of the pension 

committee have access to expert 

advice covering the full range of the 

management of the pension fund?

• Are we doing enough to access the 

skills and capacity across the LGPS 

that will enable us to ful�l our roles 

ef�ciently and effectively?

• Do we know where our gaps in 

capacity and skills are? Are we 

ensuring an effective plan is in place 

to address them?

• What do we need to change? 

Investment strategies

• Do we have the right information to 

help us to understand the important 

factors affecting our funding position?

• Is our current investment strategy 

appropriate in light of this 

information?

• Do we need to consider managing 

our liability risk?

• Do we have the right skills, 

knowledge and capacity to deal 

with a more complex investment 

environment?

• What do we need to change?

Risk management

• Do we understand the risks to the 

long-term sustainability of the 

fund and its ef�cient and effective 

management?

• Do we know how those risks are 

being managed and are we con�dent 

they are being managed effectively?

• What needs to change in this regard?

Administration costs

• Do we know what our fund 

administration costs are and what 

they consist of?

• Have we done anything in recent 

years to review and reduce those 

costs and, if so, what?

• Is their more we can do to reduce 

our administration costs or to be 

more ef�cient in the way the fund is 

managed?

Internal control and internal audit

• What are our sources of assurance that 

the controls affecting the pension fund 

are operating effectively?

• If we want some additional assurance, 

do we have a way of doing that?

• Are we aware of any controls issues 

and, if so, do we know if they are 

being addressed effectively?

• Does our annual governance 

statement cover the activities of 

the pension fund adequately?

• What do we need to change?

Page 65



20 Coming of age – development of the LGPS

About Grant Thornton

Dynamic organisations know they need to apply both reason and instinct to decision 
making. At Grant Thornton, this is how we advise our clients every day. We combine 
award-winning technical expertise with the intuition, insight and con�dence gained from 
our extensive sector experience and a deep understanding of our clients.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a leading 

business and �nancial adviser with 

client-facing of�ces in 24 locations 

nationwide. While we understand 

regional differences and can respond 

to needs of local authorities, our clients 

can also have con�dence that our 

team of local government specialists is 

part of a �rm led by 200 partners and 

employing nearly 4,000 professionals, 

providing personalised audit, tax and 

specialist advisory services to over 

40,000 clients.

 Grant Thornton has a well-

established market in the public sector 

and has been working with local 

authorities for over 30 years. 

We are the largest employer of CIPFA 

members and students and our national 

team of experienced local government 

specialists, including those who have 

held senior positions within the sector, 

provide the growing range of assurance, 

tax and advisory services that our 

clients require.

We are the leading �rm in the 

local government audit market, and 

the largest supplier of audit and related 

services to the Audit Commission, 

counting 40% of local authorities 

in England as external audit clients. 

We also audit local authorities in Wales 

and Scotland via framework contracts 

with Audit Scotland and the Wales 

Audit Of�ce. We have over 180 local 

government and related body audit 

clients in the UK and over 75 local 

authority advisory clients. This includes 

London boroughs, county councils, 

district councils, city councils, unitary 

councils and metropolitan authorities, 

as well as �re and police authorities. 

We are also auditors of 30 local 

government pension schemes, which 

covers almost 30% of funds in the UK. 

This depth of experience ensures that 

our solutions are grounded in reality 

and draw on best practice. Through 

proactive, client-focused relationships 

our teams deliver solutions in a 

distinctive and personal way, not 

pre-packaged products and services.

Our approach combines a deep 

knowledge of local government, 

supported by an understanding of 

wider public sector issues, drawn 

from working with associated delivery 

bodies, relevant central government 

departments and with private-sector 

organisations working in the sector. 

We take an active role in in�uencing 

and interpreting policy developments 

affecting local government and 

responding to government consultation 

documents and their agencies. We 

regularly produce sector-related 

thought leadership reports, typically 

based on national studies, and client 

brie�ngs on key issues. We also run 

seminars and events to share our 

thinking on local government and, 

more importantly, understand the 

challenges and issues facing our clients.

Page 66



Page 67



© 2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd (‘Grant Thornton International’). 

Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the 

member firms independently. This publication has been prepared only as a guide. No responsibility can be accepted 

by us for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from acting as a result of any material in this publication.

www.grant-thornton.co.uk

EPI1031

Contact us

Head of Local Government

Paul Dossett

Partner

T 020 7728 3180

E paul.dossett@uk.gt.com

North and Scotland

Fiona Blatcher

Associate Director

T 0161 234 6393

E fiona.c.blatcher@uk.gt.com

London and South East

Emily Hill

Associate Director

T 020 7728 3259

E emily.hill@uk.gt.com

Public Sector Governance Lead

Paul Hughes

Director

T 020 7728 2256

E paul.hughes@uk.gt.com

Midlands

Grant Patterson

Director

T 0121 232 5296

E grant.b.patterson@uk.gt.com

Wales and South West

Julie Masci

Senior Manager

T 0292 034 7506

E julie.masci@uk.gt.com

Page 68


	Agenda
	A3 Minutes - 15 November 2013
	B1 Exempt Minutes - 15 November 2013
	C1 UK Equity Managers
	C1 - Appendix -  UK equity manager search (Final)

	C2 Fund Structure
	Item C2 - Appendix - KCC Post Transition Implementation Shortfall Analysis

	D1 Application for Admission to the Fund
	D2 Grant Thornton - Coming of Age: Development of the Local Government Pension Scheme
	Item D2 - Appendix - LG-pensions-governance-review-2013


